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1 Introduction 

The Friends of Glenthorne believe that the historic property �'�o���v�š�Z�}�Œ�v���U���K�[Halloran Hill, fulfils 

the criteria for registration as a State Heritage Area on the South Australian Register of Heritage 

Places. 

Glenthorne is currently an agricultural property of 208ha ���š���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v���,�]�o�o�U���^�X���X�V���]�š���Á���•���š�Œ���v�•�(���Œ�Œ������

in June 2018 from the University of Adelaide to the South Australian government for inclusion in 

the Glenthorne National Park. First settled in 1839 by M���i�}�Œ���d�Z�}�u���•���^�Z�µ�o���Z���u���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v and 

named Lizard Lodge, G�o���v�š�Z�}�Œ�v���[�•���]�v�š���P�Œ�]�š�Ç�����•�������Z�]�•�š�}�Œ�]�����‰�Œ�}�‰���Œ�š�Ç���Z���•���������v���u���]�v�š���]�v�������}�À���Œ���š�Z����

past 180 years. Now, in the twenty-first century Glenthorne occupies the same Sections as those 

�•���o�����š���������Ç���D���i�}�Œ���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v��and continues to survive as a historic landscape with rare heritage 

credentials.  

These credentials are summarised in Attachment 1, A Statement of Significance and History of 

Glenthorne retrieved from the Australian Heritage Database, from the South Australian Heritage 

Register (registration no. 16899). This is the listing from the Register of the National Estate (Place 

ID 103800 Place File No 3/04/014/0010).   

Five buildings and ruins dating from the 1840s when Glenthorne was owned by Major Thomas 

�^�Z�µ�o���Z���u���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�����v�����Z�]�•�������•�����v�����v�š�•���~�í�ô�ï�õ-1879) and two buildings from when the Australian 

Army purchased Glenthorne for the No.9 Remount Depot (1913-1947) are registered as State 

Heritage Places on the South Australian Heritage Register (no. 16899). 

The friends of Glenthorne believe that this Statement of Significance provided sufficient evidence to 

warrant listing all 208 hectares of Glenthorne as a State Heritage Area (Attachment 1a) in 2002 

when this assessment was made. This statement is reproduced here:  

�ZGlenthorne is significant for its association with a notable early South Australian, Major T S 

O'Halloran, and its later association with the Commonwealth Government in the form of the 

Australian Army. O'Halloran was 

particularly active in the political and social life of the colony as South Australia's first Commissioner 

of Police, a Member of the Legislative Council and a generous donor to educational and religious 

causes. He was also a farmer and lived at Glenthorne, practising experimental farming there until his 

death in 1870. 

In 1913 the property was acquired by the Commonwealth for use as an Army Remount Depot as 

part of a program to expand the country's military capabilities in the decade after Federation. Hence 

it is also significant for its association with the early years of the Australian Army, which superseded 

the independent colonial forces. Elements of both these phases of occupation remain on the site. 
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Relevant Criteria (Under Section 16 of the Heritage Act 1993) (g) It has a special association with the 

life or work of a person or organisation or an event of historical importance. Glenthorne has been 

associated with both a notable personality and with a significant organisation, related to two 

distinct periods of South Australia's history. 

Major T S O'Halloran established the property as his home as early as 1839 and as a working and 

experimental farm. O'Halloran was a notable South Australian. A few months after his arrival in the 

colony he was made a JP and magistrate and within a year had been appointed Commissioner of 

Police and Major Commandant of the South Australian Militia by Governor Gawler. It was under 

these authorities that O'Halloran became involved in the notorious trial and execution of two 

Aborigines in retribution for the alleged murder of survivors of the wreck of the Maria on the 

Coorong in 1840. O'Halloran was also involved in politics, serving twice as a member of the 

Legislative Council for a total of nine years. He was also a keen farmer, experimenting with 

Mediterranean crops including olives and vines, planting wheat (reputedly being one of the first in 

South Australia to use the Ridley stripper to harvest it), and milling his own grain. O'Halloran 

remained at Lizard Lodge for over thirty years until his death in 1870. 

Over forty years later the Commonwealth Government acquired Glenthorne for use as a Remount 

Depot for the newly formed Australian Army. A series of these depots were established across the 

country as part of a program of building up the nation's defence capabilities in the years prior to the 

First World War. Remount depots were established to meet the army's huge demand for horses, in 

part for use by the cavalry but mostly for numerous tasks involved in the transport of personnel, 

ordnance and other goods. At the No. 9 Remount Depot at Glenthorne works were undertaken to 

accommodate the new function, including quarters for personnel, stabling and yards. 

The Army also utilised the open space at Glenthorne to construct two ammunition magazines. They 

are the most substantial remaining evidence of the Army's occupation at Glenthorne. 

Commonwealth interest in the site was maintained when it was handed over to the Council for 

Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) - later to become the Commonwealth Scientific and 

Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) - for use as a field research station. (Australian Historic 

Themes: 2.6. Fighting for land; 3.5 Developing primary production; 3.5.2 Breeding animals; 3.5.3 

Developing agricultural industries; 4.6 Remembering significant phases in the development of 

settlements, towns and cities; 7.6 Administering Australia; 7.1 Governing Australia as a province of 

the British Empire; 7.4 Federating Australia; 7.7 Defending Australia; 8.10.5 Advancing knowledge in 

science and technology). This place is entered in South Australia's Heritage Register and the above 

statement is provided by Heritage South Australia. (7/2/2002)�[�X  

Based on recent research, the author believes the following two historic periods deserve greater 

recognition for their contributions to the state of South Australia: 

�x No. 9 Remount Depot Glenthorne. Glenthorne made a significant contribution to South 

���µ�•�š�Œ���o�]���[�•���]�v�À�}�o�À���u���v�š���]�v���t�}�Œ�o�����t���Œ��1.  Of the 121,000 Australian horses sent to the battle 
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fronts in the Middle East, it is estimated that 17,000 came from South Australia and most were 

prepared for war at the No. 9 Remount Depot. Glenthorne was compulsorily acquired by the 

Commonwealth on 27 February 1913 as a Remount Depot for the Australian Supply Corps 

(ASC). Here horses were broken, trained, then supplied to the Light Horse regiments and 

various transport roles. The heavier horses were used to tow artillery guns and ammunition, 

ambulance wagons and supply wagons with food and defence stores such as corrugated iron 

and timber. The lighter horses were supplied to the Light Horse regiments in South Australia. 

Both the South Australian 3rd and 9th Light Horse Regiments were raised in Adelaide and one of 

the three squadrons of the 11th Light Horse Regiment. The 3rd sailed for Egypt as part of the 1st 

Light Horse Brigade in December 1914 and the 9th sailed from Melbourne for Egypt as part of 

the 3rd Light Horse Brigade on 11 February 1915. The men of the 3rd and 9th Regiments were 

first deployed to fight at Gallipoli without their horses. Although they fought with great 

honour, they suffered heavy losses. On their return to Cairo both regiments were sent to the 

battle fronts in the deserts of Sinai and Palestine. The 3rd Light Horse Regiment, as part of the 

1st Light Horse Brigade, served alongside the 1st and 2nd Light Horse Regiments. The 9th was with 

the advance that followed the Turkish retreat through the Sinai after their defeat at the Suez 

Canal, they reached the Palestine frontier by December 1916 and were involved in the fighting 

to secure the Turkish outposts of Maghdaba (23 December 1916), Rafa (9 January 1917) and 

Beersheba (31 October 1917). They participated in the pursuit of the Turkish army and the 

capture of Jerusalem in December 1917 and were involved in quelling the Egyptian revolt in 

March 1919 before sailing for home on 10 July 1919 (Smith et al. 2018:33-53).  

�x CSIRO Glenthorne Field Station.  The CSIRO Division of Biochemistry and General Nutrition and, 

later, the Division of Human Nutrition, conducted various long term research projects at the 

Glenthorne Field Station. The focus of research in the first few decades was on animal and 

plant nutrition and made significant contributions to the economy of South Australia. Trace 

element research relating to coast disease and Phylaris Staggers in the South-East and, Dr 

�����À�]�����Z�]�����u���v�[�•�����Æ�‰���Œ�]�u���v�š�•���}�v���š�Z�����š�Œ�����������o���u���v�š�������(�]���]���v���]���•���]�v���š�Z�����E�]�v���š�Ç-Mile Desert were 

of international significance. �~���Œ���Z�]�����u���v�[�•���P�o���•�•���Z�}�µ�•�����]�•�������u���P�����U�����µ�š���•�š�]�o�o���•�š���v���]�v�P�����š��

Glenthorne). With support from the AMP Society the desert (Tailem Bend to Keith) was 

transformed into highly productive cropping land and the coastal areas around Robe and 

Kingston now support a thriving sheep industry. Glenthorne became a working model for land 

management techniques, including innovative contour ploughing (Australian Heritage 

Database 2004; (Smith et al. 2018:54-76). 
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Of the seven recognised heritage buildings/ ruins listed on the South Australian Heritage Register, 

five remain complete. In addition, five of these structures, three complete and two ruins, date from 

the 1840s and 1850s when Major �d�Z�}�u���•���^�Z�µ�o���Z���u���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�������À���o�}�‰���� Lizard Lodge into a 

model farm (renamed Glenthorne in 1880). These structures are among the earliest heritage sites 

in South Australia and two may represent �š�Z�����}�o�����•�š���u���š���Œ�]���o�����À�]�����v�������}�(���������o���]�����[�•�����}�o�}�v�]���o���‰���•�š��

in the metropolitan area. 

 The carriage house (also referred to as the smokehouse) is clearly visible in the background (top 

right corner) of the c.1840 sketch of Lizard Lodge by Charles Frome. A stone footing excavated at 

Glenthorne in 2004 has been dated to 1839. This footing, and a second stone footing near the large 

dam, are not listed on the South Australian Heritage Register.  

 

 

Lizard Lodge. Sketch by Charles Frome, c. �í�ô�ð�ì�X���^�}�µ�Œ�����W�����^�>�^�����K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�����}�o�o�����š�]�}�v�X 

Five trees, four osage orange trees and one pear tree, appear to date from the Lizard Lodge period 

but are not referred to on the Statement of Significance for Glenthorne; they are registered on the 

National Trust Significant Trees Register.  

In summary, Glenthorne today is unique, nestled behind the hills face and within the Adelaide 

Metropolitan area, it is a heritage treasure! 

Location: Glenthorne is located at the south-western corner of the Main South Road and Majors 

�Z�}�����U���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v���,�]�o�o and is approximately 17km from the Adelaide CBD. Current land use includes 

sheep grazing, experimental GM crops (University of Adelaide) and revegetation programs by the 

Friends of Glenthorne. As shown in Figure 1, Glenthorne is adjacent to several other ecologically 
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�•�]�P�v�]�(�]�����v�š���}�‰���v���•�‰�����������Œ�����•���Á�]�š�Z�]�v���š�Z�������]�š�Ç���}�(���D���Œ�]�}�v�U���]�v���o�µ���]�v�P���š�Z�����K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v���Z�����Œ�����š�]�}�v���W���Œ�l���]�v��

the Hills Face Zone and the Field River. 

 

Figure 1. Map showing the location of Glenthorne and its relationship to adjacent areas of open space. 
Source: https://www.marion.sa.gov.au/webdata/resources/files/Great_Southern_Urban_Forest_Report.pdf 

2 State Heritage Legislation 

The South Australian Heritage Places Act 1993 exists to protect all places listed on the South 

Australian Heritage Places Database, refer again to Attachment 1. 

Responsibility for the care and protection of all places of historic and/or natural significance listed 

on the South Australian Heritage Register rests with the owners.  See Attachment 2, Part 5A of the 

Heritage Places Act 1993 listing the responsibilities of landowners caring for sites on the South 

Australian Heritage Places Database. The Act provides for penalties to be awarded against the 

owners of heritage listed places who fail to maintain the significant historic sites under their care. 

See Attachment 3, Part 7 of the Heritage Places Act 1993.  

3 Review of the current status of State heritage registered buildings 

A Memorandum of Understanding between the South Australian Government and the University of 

Adelaide to transfer all 208 hectares of Glenthorne to the State was signed on 26 June 2018; 

Glenthorne will now become a part of the recently announced Glenthorne National Park and linked 

https://www.marion.sa.gov.au/webdata/resources/files/Great_Southern_Urban_Forest_Report.pdf
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to neighbouring open spaces. Prior to this, the South Australian government entered into a deed 

agreement with the University of Adelaide in 2001 whereby Glenthorne was transferred to the 

University and the property managed by Martindale Holdings (owned by the University of 

Adelaide).  

There is no doubt that the state heritage listed buildings and ruins on Glenthorne are protected by 

the current state heritage legislation, that is, the Heritage Places Act 1993. Each of the State 

heritage listed building/ ruins described below are also described in Attachment 3, the University of 

�������o���]�����[�•���/�v�À���v�š�}�Œ�Ç���}�(��Heritage Listed Buildings, pp. 76 �t 90, Glenthorne, prepared by McDougall 

& Vines (University of Adelaide 2004). The inventory includes recommendations for the 

conservation of these structures to be undertaken by the University of Adelaide and the 

recognition of a Heritage Precinct at Glenthorne. These recommendations are now fourteen years 

old. Despite the protection given to these buildings and ruins under the Heritage Places Act 1993, 

apart from a new roof on the barn, only minimal conservation measures were undertaken in 2016. 

In fact, a former farm manager of Glenthorne reported that he had been specifically instructed by 

the University of Adelaide staff �Znot to worry about the old buildings and ruins�[.   

A photographic record of the heritage structures, below, illustrate structural changes and their 

overall deterioration between the late 1990s and 2018, these photographs should be compared 

with the photographs in Attachment 3. This report also gives brief comments on the extent to 

which the buildings and structures continue to require conservation and on the conservation 

measures undertaken by the University of Adelaide in 2016. 

 

 

World War 1 Munitions 
Magazines. 

View of the two World War 
1 munitions magazines at 
Glenthorne. Both buildings 
are listed on the South 
Australian Heritage Places 
Database and both buildings 
require urgent maintenance. 

View is south-west. 

(Both photos were taken 
���µ�Œ�]�v�P���š�Z�����î�ì�í�ñ���,�]�•�š�}�Œ�Ç���^���[�•��
About Time event at 
Glenthorne). 
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This photograph illustrates 
the east-facing wall of the 
northern munitions 
magazine. Access to this 
area is now prohibited and 
recent photographs are not 
available. View is north-
west. 

Refer also to Attachment 3, 
pp.92-94. 

 

The cool room or dairy, late 
1990s. View north-east. At 
this time the walls were still 
upright and the roof was 
intact �t although two olives 
trees, one on either side, 
were damaging the roof and 
stone walls.  
Recommendations 
regarding the urgent need 
to remove the olive trees 
were made by the Friends of 
Glenthorne to Martindale 
Holdings in 2002 and 2004, 
see also Attachment 3, 
pp.91-92, for 
recommendations for the 
urgent conservation. 

 

 
 
 
The cool room or dairy, 
2010. At this time the walls 
and roof had collapsed and 
it was considered too late to 
save the building. 
View east. 
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The cool room or dairy, 
2016, following 
conservation including 
stabilisation of the walls. 
The Friends of Glenthorne 
expressed concern at the 
quality of the conservation 
undertaken. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Carriage House (also 
re�(���Œ�Œ�������š�}�����•�������Z�•�u�}�l����
�Z�}�µ�•���[�•�U��2003.  
View north-east. The tack 
room walls at the rear were 
deteriorating but the stone 
work was complete. The 
side walls of the front 
section were vertical. 
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Carriage house (also 
referred to as the 
smokehouse), 2015. View 
south through what is 
thought to have been the 
tack room built at the 
eastern end of the coach 
house. Much of this collapse 
occurred in the previous 
decade. Note �t this is the 
building which can be seen 
in the sketch of Lizard 
Lodge, c.1840. These 
chimneys were a notable 
structural feature during the 
�K�[Halloran era and following 
decades. 

 

 

 

Carriage house, 2015. 

Following the 2016 
conservation work the 
Friends of Glenthorne were 
shocked to discover that the 
false chimneys, the features 
unique to this heritage 
building, had been 
removed! Where did they 
go? This is a state heritage 
listed building, yet the 
�^�š���š���[�•���,���Œ�]�š���P�����h�v�]�š has not 
commented on their 
removal.  
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These supports were 
installed in 2016 as a much-
needed conservation 
measure to stabilize the 
northern wall.  

 

 

 

 

Photograph of the 
underground tank c. 1950. 
Taken by Mr Ralph Jones, 
former Manager of 
Glenthorne, now in the 
CSIRO Glenthorne Archive. 
View north-west. 
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Underground tank. 2003. 
View south-west.  
Refer to Attachment 3, pp. 
87-88. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

This image clearly illustrates 
the deterioration of the rear 
facia. 2010. Refer to 
Attachment 3, pp.87-88. 
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Underground tank, 2016, 
following �Z�Œ���•�š�}�Œ���š�]�}�v�[. View 
west. Note that the new 
door and finial do not 
resemble those in the 
c.1950 photograph. 

 

 

 

Barn and granary (also 
referred to as the coach 
house). 2003. View east. 
Conservation work on this 
historic building was 
undertaken during 2016 and 
included new gutters and 
downpipes on the western 
side and the removal of 
overhanging branches on 
the southern side and the 
replacement of some 
timbers. See also 
Attachment 3, pp.81-83.  
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New facia, guttering and 
downpipe on the western 
side of the barn. 2016. View 
south.  

 

 

 

The Barn and Granary. 2016. 
The most urgent 
conservation work has been 
completed, but there is 
more that should be done. 
The building is infested with 
rats and their many holes 
are undermining the 
basement walls.  
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It is remarkable that the 
���Z���o�l���Œ�����}�Œ���•���}�(���K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�[�•��
1870�[�•���À�]�v�š���P���•���}�v���š�Z����
central post in the basement 
have survived 150 years �t 
measures must be urgently 
taken to preserve these 
fading records. 

 

 

The Barn and Granary. 2008. 
View south showing the 
northern entrance to the 
upper level.  

This is the only building 
�(�Œ�}�u���š�Z�����K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�����Œ�����š�Z���š��
remains intact. Its continued 
preservation must be 
ensured. 
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4 Glenthorne. Proposed �^�š���š�����,���Œ�]�š���P�������Œ���������v�����ZHeritage Precinct�[ 

The Friends of Glenthorne believe the information provided in this proposal is sufficient evidence to 

support the registration of all 208 hectares of Glenthorne as a State Heritage Area. 

In addition, th�����h�v�]�À���Œ�•�]�š�Ç���}�(���������o���]�����[�•���/�v�À���v�š�}�Œ�Ç���}�(���,���Œitage Listed Buildings, p.79, prepared by 

McDougall & Vines, Attachment 3, recommended �š�Z�������•�š�����o�]�•�Z�u���v�š���}�(�����v���Z�����Œ�o�Ç�����µ�]�o���]�v�P���‰�Œ�����]�v���š�[��

at Glenthorne. The Friends of Glenthorne strongly support this recommendation to establish a 

�Z�,���Œ�]�š���P�����W�Œ�����]�v���š�[�����Œ�}�µ�v�����š�Z�����^�š���š����Heritage registered buildings and heritage trees dating from 

�š�Z�����K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v�����Œ��. A strategy to conserve those building must be prepared and implemented.  

We also recommend the landscaping around the Heritage Precinct be sympathetic with the theme 

of the precinct and the Lizard Lodge /Glenthorne House gardens, as described in historic texts and 

photographs, be planted in the manner of a Victorian garden. 

The potential for Glenthorne to evolve into tourist destination is great. It is a unique feature in the 

�'�o���v�š�Z�}�Œ�v�����E���š�]�}�v���o���W���Œ�l�����v�����š�Z�����������o���]�������D���š�Œ�}�‰�}�o�]�š���v�����Œ�����X�������Z�,���Œ�]�š���P�����W�Œ�����]�v���š�[���Á�]�o�o provide a 

magnificent opportunity to develop a tourism hub and interpret a complex part of settler history 

and the story of colonisation in South Australia.  

As described above, during World War 1 and to 1947, Glenthorne was one of several remount 

depots across Australia training horses and riders for warfare.  Recent research has deepened our 

understanding of the history of Glenthorne during these years and the enormous contribution 

South Australia made to the 1914-1918 war effort through the horses and men trained at the 

Remount Depot. The Glenthorne property provides a very appropriate setting to celebrate the 

enormous contribution made by horses in that war. It is recommended that this should be 

undertaken in association with the Australian Army and the ���µ�•�š�Œ���o�]���v�����Œ�u�Ç�[�•���D�µ�•���µ�u�����š���<���•�Á�]���l 

(see Smith et al. 2018:33-53).   

After 1948 Glenthorne became a CSIRO Field Station and, again, the scientific research undertaken 

during this period made significant contributions to scientific knowledge and to the economy of 

South Australia. The existing laboratories at Glenthorne provide an excellent opportunity to 

develop a science museum with a focus on the achievements of CSIRO in South Australia during this 

period (see Smith et al. 2018:54-76).  

Glenthorne does not exist in isolation. It is linked to the adjoining parks and reserves, as shown in 

Figure 1. The property forms a continuous corridor of open space from South Road (and possibly 

the Sturt Gorge Recreation Park) to the sea. There is great potential for a heritage walk across the 

Hills Face Zone to the several historic sites �Á�]�š�Z�]�v���š�Z�����K�[�,���o�o�}�Œ���v���,�]�o�o���Z�����Œ�����š�]�}�v���W���Œ�l�U���š�Z�Œ�}�µ�P�Z��

Glenthorne and along the Field River. 
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At a time when the South Australian government is seeking to develop new business ventures and 

stimulate the local economy, the potential for Glenthorne to become a major tourism hub within 

the Glenthorne National Park must be seriously considered by the South Australian government.  

 

                

                

Dr Pamela A. Smith,  
College of Humanities, Arts and Social Sciences 
Flinders University                                                                                  

September 2018 
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ATTACHMENT 1. HERITAGE STATEMENT FOR GLENTHORNE 
(extract from Australian Heritage Database) 
Place Details 
Send Feedback 
Glenthorne CSIRO Field Station Structures (former), 2 Majors Rd, O'Halloran 
Hill, SA, Australia 
Photographs None 
List Register of the National Estate (Non-statutory archive) 
Class Historic 
Legal Status Identified through State processes 
Place ID 103800 
Place File No 3/04/014/0010 
Statement of Significance 
Glenthorne is significant for its association with a notable early South Australian, Major T S O'Halloran, and 
its later association with the Commonwealth Government in the form of the Australian Army. O'Halloran was 
particularly active in the political and social life of the colony as South Australia's first Commissioner of 
Police, a Member of the Legislative Council and a generous donor to educational and religious causes. He was 
also a farmer and lived at Glenthorne, practising experimental farming there until his death in 1870. 
In 1913 the property was acquired by the Commonwealth for use as an Army Remount Depot as part of a 
program to expand the country's military capabilities in the decade after Federation. Hence it is also significant 
for its association with the early years of the Australian Army, which superseded the independent colonial 
forces. Elements of both these phases of occupation remain on the site. 
Relevant Criteria (Under Section 16 of the Heritage Act 1993) (g) It has a special association with the life or 
work of a person or organisation or an event of historical importance. Glenthorne has been associated with 
both a notable personality and with a significant organisation, related to two distinct periods of South 
Australia's history. 
Major T S O'Halloran established the property as his home as early as 1839 and as a working, and for the time, 
somewhat, experimental farm. O'Halloran was a notable South Australian. A few months after his arrival in 
the colony he was made a JP and magistrate and within a year had been appointed Commissioner of Police and 
Major Commandant of the South Australian Militia by Governor Gawler. It was under these authorities that 
O'Halloran became involved in the notorious trial and execution of two Aborigines in retribution for the 
alleged murder of survivors of the wreck of the Maria on the Coorong in 1840. O'Halloran was also involved 
in politics, serving twice as a member of the Legislative Council for a total of nine years. He was also a keen 
farmer, experimenting with Mediterranean crops including olives and vines, planting wheat (reputedly being 
one of the first in South Australia to use the Ridley stripper to harvest it), and milling his own grain. 
O'Halloran remained at Lizard Lodge for over thirty years until his death in 1870. 
Over forty years later the Commonwealth Government acquired Glenthorne for use as a Remount Depot for 
the newly formed Australian Army. A series of these depots were established across the country as part of a 
program of building up the nation's defence capabilities in the years prior to the First World War. Remount 
depots were established to meet the army's huge demand for horses, in part for use by the cavalry but mostly 
for numerous tasks involved in the transport of personnel, ordnance and other goods. At the No. 9 Remount 
Depot at Glenthorne works were undertaken to accommodate the new function, including quarters for 
personnel, stabling and yards. 
The Army also utilised the open space at Glenthorne to construct two ammunition magazines. They are the 
most substantial remaining evidence of the Army's occupation at Glenthorne. Commonwealth interest in the 
site was maintained when it was handed over to the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) - 
later to become the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) - for use as a 
field research station. (Australian Historic Themes: 2.6. Fighting for land; 3.5 Developing primary production; 
3.5.2 Breeding animals; 3.5.3 Developing agricultural industries; 4.6 Remembering significant phases in the 
development of settlements, towns and cities; 7.6 Administering Australia; 7.1 Governing Australia as a 
province of the British Empire; 7.4 Federating Australia; 7.7 Defending Australia; 8.10.5 Advancing 
knowledge in science and technology). This place is entered in South Australia's Heritage Register and the 
above statement is provided by Heritage South Australia. (7/2/2002) The Australian Heritage Commission 
recognises the standards of historic assessment of Heritage South Australia and acknowledges that this place 
has National Estate historic values. Enquiries concerning the assessment or conservation of this place should 
be directed in the first instance to Heritage South Australia. Commonwealth authorities and bodies should 
contact the Australian Heritage Commission directly if any Commonwealth action is proposed in relation to 
this place.  
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Description 
HISTORY 
 
T S O'Halloran and Lizard Lodge 
Glenthorne was occupied very early in the process of European settlement in South Australia. The first two 
sections of land at what is now known as Glenthorne were granted to Major Thomas Shuldham O'Halloran in  
December 1839, just three years after the colony was founded, and all the land in the area covered by this 
assessment was taken up by 1847. O'Halloran was a significant figure in South Australia's early decades. He 
was born in 1797 in the Indian province of West Bengal, the son of Major-General Sir Joseph O'Halloran. He 
grew up in India, entered the Royal Military College Marlow as a cadet at the age of eleven, returned to India 
as an Ensign at sixteen, and served there for the next twenty years as a military officer. Seven of his brothers 
were army officers, and one a naval officer. He spent three years back in England as an officer in the 
Coldstream Guards on half-pay (i.e. semi-retired), then at the age of 41, with his second wife Jane and two 
sons, he emigrated to South Australia. They arrived in Holdfast Bay on 16 November 1838 aboard the ship 
Rajasthan which had sailed from London the previous July. At the time he arrived in South Australia, 
O�¶Halloran had spent a few months of his life in his ancestral Ulster, about eight years in England and 34 
years in India. His entire life had been spent either in military service or growing up in a military household. 
O'Halloran took up his land in several stages over 14 years: there were land grants of two sections in 1839, two 
more in 1840, one each in 1845 and 1847, and in 1853 he bought another section from Vice-Admiral Edward 
Hawker, an absentee landlord living in Hampshire who had taken up an adjacent section in 1840 (he was 
probably a family friend of the O'Hallorans). By 1853 Thomas O'Halloran had consolidated all the land of the 
former Glenthorne Field Station under his ownership. His brother Captain William Littlejohn O'Halloran had 
also arrived in 1840 and taken up two sections of adjoining land east of South Road. 
The O'Hallorans were developing the land only a month after they arrived in the colony, and actually living on 
it four months later, long before they had legal title to it. Thomas O'Halloran kept a journal of notable events in 
his life, and on 17 April 1839 he recorded: "Dined in large house for the first time, Govr Gawler, Sturt &c 
being present". This was eight months before he was officially granted the land on which the house stood, but 
someone who could entertain the Governor and Assistant Commissioner of Lands at dinner probably had little 
fear of having his application refused. 
O'Halloran called his homestead Lizard Lodge, a reference to the lizard which appears in the crest of the 
family coat of arms. According to tradition, an O'Halloran chieftain was once warned of approaching enemies 
by a running lizard. The name was probably in use from the time the house was built, for when a son was born 
in 1840, O�¶Halloran recorded in his journal: "Henry born at Lizard Lodge". A little is known about the 
developments on the property. The "large house" was probably two prefabricated Manning timber houses 
which O'Halloran, like many early colonists, had shipped out with him from London. His journal also referred 
to a "cottage" which the family had occupied earlier. By January 1839 a well had been dug, and a kiln was 
firing lime for mortar. In February 1839 there was half an acre ploughed, and by June 1839, an acre had 
been fenced. Lady Franklin visited Lizard Lodge at the end of 1840 and saw "fine-looking wheat" growing and 
300 acres fenced. O'Halloran was one of the first farmers to use the Ridley stripper for wheat harvesting. He 
also experimented with Mediterranean crops: he planted grape vines and sent bottles of wine to London by 
1852, and there are very early olive trees near the homestead site. In 1844 he made the intriguing journal entry: 
"Flour Mill first used". There is some very good pictorial evidence for the appearance of Lizard Lodge in its 
early decades. In the O'Halloran papers in the Mortlock Library there are two small pencil drawings from the 
1850s. One dated 1851 shows four buildings and some fenced paddocks. The homestead, servants quarters and 
another building have all been demolished since, but an outbuilding in the drawing still stands as a ruin. 
Another drawing dated 1855 clearly shows the newly-built coach house, which is still intact today. CSIRO 
Glenthorne holds a photograph dated 1865 which shows a very similar view of the buildings ten years later: a 
young fruit orchard is visible in the foreground, and workers, one of whom appears to be Aboriginal, are 
clearing felled trees from the creek with a horse team. Thomas O'Halloran had a conspicuous public career. He 
had been in South Australia only a few months when he was made a JP and magistrate. Then in June 1839 
Governor Gawler appointed him Commissioner of Police. In February 1840 he gained the additional title of 
Major Commandant of the South Australian Militia. This profusion of offices was to lead O�¶Halloran into the 
most controversial episodes of his career. 
As a prominent and wealthy southern land holder, he was a patrician figure, and the suburb of O'Halloran Hill 
and Majors Road were both named after him, and Thomas and Jane Streets in Marion may also have been 
named after the major and his wife. He was on the Central Road Board, first chairman of the District Council 
of Brighton, on the board of the Agricultural and Horticultural Society, president of the St Patrick's Society 
which promoted Irish immigration, and also actively involved in recruiting more immigrants to South 
Australia from among Indian Army officers. 
O'Halloran was a generous donor to educational and religious causes, particularly Anglican ones: in 1848 he 
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donated the glebe land at O'Halloran Hill where Christ Church was built the following year, he was a governor 
of St Peter's College, and a member of the boards of the Church Building Society and the Female Refuge. 
He had a turbulent career as a political representative, first as an appointed member of the Legislative Council 
in 1843, until he fell out with Governor Robe in 1846 over the previously unheard-of question of Crown 
mineral royalties, and later with the voters over his support of State aid for religious schools. In 1857 he 
rejoined the Legislative Council as an elected member, and served a relatively uneventful six years. O'Halloran 
is also remembered for less creditable reasons. Between 1840 and 1842 he led three punitive 
expeditions against groups of Aborigines on the Coorong, at Port Lincoln and on the Murray who were 
resisting occupation of their land. The first and most notorious of these incidents came in 1840 when survivors 
of the wreck of the brig Maria were allegedly murdered by members of the Milmenrura clan on the Coorong. 
O'Halloran was sent with instructions from Governor Gawler to find the culprits, hold a trial and execute them 
on the spot: he had literally been appointed judge, jury and executioner. Two Aborigines were hanged near the 
scene of the murders and at least two others were shot, without any real attempt to find out what had motivated 
the incident. 
Even by the brutal standards of 1840, when hangings of condemned criminals were still carried out in public, 
this was a clear breach of the principles of British justice. O'Halloran's actions seemingly stemmed from his 
inability to distinguish between his role as a police officer bringing a suspected criminal to justice, and that of 
a soldier in combat against an enemy; he had after all been appointed to perform both of those roles. If he had 
been charged with an offence, O'Halloran presumably would have argued that he had only been following 
Governor Gawler's orders. There was debate in the Colonial Office in London whether to charge Gawler with 
murder over the incident, but he was simply recalled for this and other misdemeanours. 
Gawler's successor, George Grey, made sweeping reforms of the police force; O'Halloran believed his position 
had been made untenable and he resigned as Police Commissioner in 1843. Although humanitarians deplored 
the Coorong executions even at the time, a greater number of colonists probably believed O�¶Halloran was 
simply doing his job. There is no evidence that any significant shadow from those events hung over his later 
years as farmer, politician and philanthropist. 
 
Glenthorne Estate 
Thomas O'Halloran died in 1870, and was buried in the family vault at Christ Church, just south of his estate. 
His eldest son Thomas Joseph Shuldham O'Halloran inherited the Lizard Lodge estate. He retained it for seven 
years, and then sold the land to Thomas Saunders Porter, who renamed it Glenthorne Estate. Little is known of 
Porter's occupancy. He apparently carried on the O'Halloran wheat and mixed farming practice, and also 
continued in the role of local squire, for the family donated a Burne Jones stained glass memorial window to 
Christ Church. No physical changes are known to have occurred on the land, although at some time, probably 
in the late nineteenth century, Thomas O'Halloran's "large house" was destroyed by fire and replaced by an 
even larger stone homestead. 
When Porter died in 1890, his two sons Walter Hedley Rhead Porter, a North Adelaide bank manager, and 
Ernest Saunders Porter, an architect who had practised in Broken Hill and was later to go to Kalgoorlie, 
inherited Glenthorne, with life occupancy for their mother Jane. The brothers probably never lived on the land. 
In 1900 they applied to have Glenthorne, then valued at 7 574 pounds, brought under the Real Property Act, 
and in 1903 they sold the estate to George Brookman. 
Brookman was an extremely wealthy man; an Adelaide stockbroker, he had formed a syndicate which in 1893 
had sent prospectors to the new Kalgoorlie gold rush. Whether by shrewd geological judgment or sheer good 
luck, they had pegged leases on the richest section of what would become known to the world as the Golden 
Mile. By the turn of the century, ownership of such legendary gold mines as the Ivanhoe, Lake View and Great 
Boulder gave the syndicate members share holdings worth millions of pounds on the London exchange. 
Brookman had retired from active involvement in company directorships and share trading; as O'Halloran had 
done, he devoted the rest of his life to politics and philanthropy. 
George Brookman never lived at Glenthorne either; like most of the Golden Mile millionaires, he built himself 
a mansion at Medindie. He bought up a further large tract of land extending west toward the Gulf, and 
operated the Glenthorne estate as a horse and sheep stud. His young son Norman lived there and managed the 
property, breeding Dorset Horn sheep and Suffolk Punch horses, big animals used for ploughing and pulling 
loads. Part of the property was probably still cultivated for wheat, and grain crops and pasture grasses were 
rotated on a systematic basis. There may have been new horse yards and stables built during this period, but by 
some accounts there was already horse-breeding being done on the property in Major O'Hallorans time. 
In 1909 Norman Brookman obtained title to the land from his father, but a year later sold the whole of the 
Glenthorne estate to Harold Charles Drew. Like the Porter years, little is known about Drew and his 
management of the property, but in any case his tenure was brief, for three years after he bought Glenthorne, 
the land was compulsorily acquired for defence purposes. 
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The Army Remount Depot 
We have an excellent description of Glenthorne in October 1912, for the government valuer described it in 
detail. The soil was described as "rich black loam ... producing heavy crops of hay, wheat, oats, peas, etc. 
"There was "a lot  of valuable timber on the property, both natural and artificial". It was fenced into seventeen 
paddocks and watered from three wells and two dams, with water pumped by windmills into elevated tanks 
and then fed by a network of pipes to the homestead and the paddocks. The homestead was a "Modern stone 
structure, 13 rooms electric light and telephone installed." (One account illustrates this as a two storey mansion 
built for Thomas Porter in 1879) 
There were a garden and plantation, four cottages, wine cellars, blacksmiths and carpenters shops, coach and 
motor house, a woolshed powered by an 8hp Tangye oil engine, stables, horse yards, stockyards, stallion-
boxes, pigsties, drafting yards, extensive fowl yards and a sheep dip. 
Why had the Army come to Glenthorne? With Federation in 1901, the Commonwealth of Australia had taken 
over responsibility for Australia's defence from the six colonies, and was also expected to make a contribution 
to the defence strategies of the British Empire. In a country of less than 4 million people, the new Federal 
government saw an urgent need to build up military capability. In 1910 Lord Kitchener visited Australia and 
made a series of recommendations which led in the next few years to compulsory military training, the 
purchase of warships for the Royal Australian Navy and the establishment of the Royal Military College at 
Duntroon, a Small Arms Factory at Lithgow and an Explosive Ordnance Factory at Maribyrnong. 
In the course of this flurry of defence preparations leading up to the outbreak of the First World War, the 
Remount Branch of the Australian Army was established in 1911, and a chain of grazing properties throughout 
the country were acquired by the Army for the purpose of breeding horses, or "remounts" as they were called 
in the military jargon of the time. Armies at the turn of the century had a huge demand for horses. A few were 
used by the cavalry (who still fought on horseback), and many more by mounted infantry (who travelled on 
horseback but fought on foot as infantry - in Australia they were called the Light Horse). Most were used for 
transport, pulling guns, ambulances and supply wagons loaded with ammunition, food, tents, blankets, boots 
and everything else an army needed. The British Army had shipped about 484 000 horses to South Africa 
during the war against the Boers in 1899-1902, and two-thirds of them or about 326 000 had died there. 
During the second half of the nineteenth century Australia was already supplying tens of thousands of 
"Walers" or stock horses for Army use in India, but this industry was now to be expanded and put under closer 
military supervision. 
During 1912, Army officers and valuers were travelling the country looking near capital cities and major ports 
at likely properties for breeding remounts. In South Australia, a property at Yatala was rejected, and instead 
the Army chose Harold Drew's property at Glenthorne, which they valued at fourteen thousand, one hundred 
and eighty pounds. In February 1913, King O'Malley, Secretary of State for Home Affairs, put a minute to 
Federal Cabinet recommending the purchase of Glenthorne, and a week later the land was compulsorily 
acquired by the Commonwealth under the Lands Acquisition Act 1906. The property became No 9 Remount 
Depot Glenthorne. 
The Army lost little time in adapting Glenthorne to its new use: the emergency of the outbreak of was in 
Europe 18 months after the acquisition of Glenthorne no doubt speeded things up. Horse yards and stables 
were upgraded, and new water tanks were built. Accommodation for single soldiers and four new houses for 
married soldiers were added by 1915. The Officer Commanding, Captain Norman Campbell, lived in the two 
storey stone homestead until 1925, when a new timber house was built for him beside the entrance gate on 
Majors Road. 
One new military development on the property had nothing to do with the business of the remount depot. 
Someone in the Army decided to take advantage of the abundant open space on Glenthorne to store munitions. 
In 1913, two magazines were built on the bare ridge 700m south-southwest of the old homestead. They were 
designed to hold 18-pounder artillery shells, and were simple austere brick buildings with hipped corrugated 
iron roofs and encircling verandahs, windowless but ventilated by openings in the walls and roof. Between 
them was an earth mound, erected in the forlorn but undoubtedly well-engineered hope of deflecting any 
explosion that occurred in one magazine from detonating the other. 
The Army managed Glenthorne for 33 years. The initial emergency of the First World War passed, and the 
Remount Depot continued to supply horses to India throughout the war in Europe. Between 1911 and 1930, 
South Australia shipped over 17,000 horses to India, most of which would have passed through Glenthorne. 
Horses were overlanded and railed down from outback properties such as Blanchewater, some of them trained 
stockhorses, some brumbies. They were bought by Army buyers at auctions in Kapunda and other places, then 
brought to O'Halloran Hill. At Glenthorne they were checked by veterinary surgeons, cared for and put in 
condition for shipping. They were also broken in for riding if still wild, and most of them were also trained to 
work in harness. 
Local residents became used to the sight of teams of skittish horses being trained along South Road. 
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There were never many military personnel based at the Glenthorne Remount Depot. To judge from the 
accommodation that was built, there were only four married and about eight single soldiers quartered there. It 
was essentially a farm run by the army, and life was mostly very quiet; it had pigs and chickens and grazed 
sheep. 
As motor transport increased in importance during and after the First World War, so the demand for military 
horses gradually wound down. The Indian trade dropped off in the 1920s and 1930s. Dalgetys offered to buy 
Glenthorne in 1923, but the Army held on. In 1926 the Adelaide Electric Supply Co Ltd (later to become the 
ElectricityTrust of South Australia) bought an easement across the property to erect electric transmission lines; 
much higher capacity lines still follow the same route today. 
During the Second World War several hundred mules were trained at Glenthorne to carry military supplies in 
Papua New Guinea, but the mechanised character of that war spelled the end of Army remounts forever. As 
India prepared for independence, the Australian Army closed down its horse-training operations, and the 
government valuers went to Glenthorne again in 1946. The property was valued at seventeen thousand, eight 
hundred and thirty once pounds, but it was not put on the open market. In April 1947, the Commonwealth 
transferred ownership of Glenthorne to the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). 
 
Glenthorne Field Station: the CSIR and CSIRO 
The CSIR arose out of the same need to organise on a national basis that had created the Remount Depot. 
After the Great War, the Institute of Science and Industry had been established in 1920 to coordinate 
Australia's scientific and industrial effort. In 1926 it had been replaced by CSIR, which devoted itself chiefly 
to research which would benefit agricultural and pastoral production. During the Second World War, the 
Council became a trouble-shooter for problems affecting industrial production of any kind, it increased in size 
and its role expanded into the field of manufacturing industry. 
In the post-war era, scientific research had a high priority in Commonwealth circles. Glenthorne was taken 
over by the CSIR Division of Biochemistry and General Nutrition and at first was used to study nutrition and 
nutrient-related disease in sheep. Although the formal transfer of the property did not take place until 1947, 
CSIR scientists were at work at Glenthorne six months earlier in October 1946. The transition from Army to 
CSIR occupation then took four years to accomplish. The Army had the right to occupy the four houses on the 
property for three years, but this dragged on, and it was August 1950 before the last Army tenants left. 
The first few years of CSIR management probably saw the most rapid changes at Glenthorne since 1839. New 
buildings were needed, and a lot of the old buildings had to go. The Army houses and administrative offices 
were all light timber-framed buildings, which were demolished within a few years. Some of the old buildings 
from the O'Halloran era, the barn, servants' quarters and pigsty, were demolished. The Army horse yards and 
stables were of no use to CSIR, and were demolished to make way for a new generation of animal houses, 
offices and laboratories. A much larger new dam was dug on the creek. 
Further afield, the Glenthorne Field Station became a showpiece for land management techniques. The 
property had been well-managed in the time of Thomas O'Halloran and the Brookmans, but during the later 
remount years it had become degraded, and some of the fields were severely dissected by gully erosion. 
Contour ploughing was introduced, and regular open days were held to familiarise farmers with the technique. 
In 1949 CSIR became CSIRO, the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization. Over time, 
the emphasis of most experimental work at Glenthorne shifted from animal nutrition to human diet, and less 
and less work was being carried on in the paddocks. The Waite Agricultural Institute of the University of 
Adelaide leased the grazing areas for field research. By the 1980s, Glenthorne was the chief research station of 
the CSIRO Division of Human Nutrition, housed in a new brick laboratory building. After the Waite vacated 
the site, the paddocks were leased to a tenant farmer. In May 2001 the property was formally granted to the 
University of Adelaide by the South Australian government. 
PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION 
Lizard Lodge 
On the site of Thomas O'Halloran's homestead, enough remains to identify the site of the historic illustrations, 
and to infer the general location and layout of what has been demolished. The best-preserved and most 
prominent building is the coachhouse, standing beside the entrance road. It is nearly 11 m square in plan, well 
built of stone rubble. It stands on a slope, and has entrances on two storeys, with a loft in the roof space. The 
roof has been replaced and other minor modifications made since CSIRO have owned it. 
On the evidence of the pencil drawings, this building was built between 1851 and 1855. Its design is pure 
English; it is a classic "bank barn", designed in the English climate to have an internal threshing floor, a 
granary and animal stalls. 
The oldest building remaining is probably the stone rubble ruin known as the "smokehouse", which dates from 
at least 1851. It is a long narrow building, 10m by 5m, divided into two internal spaces, one long and narrow, 
the other small and square, like a privy. Its function is not known. Its most remarkable feature is its two false 
chimneys. On both gables of the smaller chamber are red brick chimneys, which have probably given it the 
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name "smokehouse", but they are purely decorative, with no flues running through them, and no fireplaces 
anywhere in the building. 
South of the coachhouse is a rectangular underground water tank about 5m by 4m in plan, still with a 
corrugated iron roof and in reasonable condition. It has been fitted with relatively modern iron water pipes, 
and is mentioned by valuers in 1912 and 1946 as a functioning tank. It has an arched Gothic opening in its east 
gable, and ornamental bargeboards in its west gable. It has the remains of a decorative paint colour scheme, 
and it was once quite a jaunty little building. 
The only other standing building is a cellar, which is probably the little building visible in all three historic 
illustrations at the end of a covered walkway behind the servants quarters. It is a small rectangular stone shed 
of almost exactly the same dimensions as the water tank, dug into the slope so that it is possible to walk into it 
from the west side, but only the gable is visible from the east. The cellar is in very bad condition; its walls are 
leaning, a very large olive tree has crushed the roof, and the wooden 
lintel above the doorway is in poor shape. 
Remount Depot 
The most substantial remaining evidence of the remount period at Glenthorne is the two brick artillery 
magazines on the ridge, which is a little ironic as they have no relationship to horse-breeding. They are solid 
buildings in very good condition, with their doors, ceilings, ventilators and drainage all intact. The bricks were 
supplied by the Metropolitan Brick Company, a large brickworks which operated from 1882 until about 1932. 
Between the buildings the blast mound, a crisp geometric shape in the 1913 drawings, has deteriorated into a 
shapeless heap of earth. 
In the 1950s the magazines were converted to CSIRO store sheds for materials such as sheep dip and 
herbicides. Their hipped iron roofs and verandahs were removed, and corrugated iron new gabled structures 
were built completely enclosing them. In the process, the rafters for the new roofs were laid on the posts and 
beams of the old verandahs, so the structural parts of the magazines are virtually intact. The outer buildings 
have helped to protect the magazines from the weather and human impacts for more than half their lives. 
History Not Available 
 
CONDITION AND INTEGRITY 
Enough remains of the Lizard Lodge to identify the site of the historic illustrations, and to infer the general 
location and layout of what has been demolished. The best-preserved and most prominent building is the 
coachhouse, well built of stone rubble. The roof has been replaced and other minor modifications made since 
CSIRO have owned it. 
The oldest building remaining is probably the stone rubble ruin known as the "smokehouse", which dates from 
at least 1851. 
The underground water tank still with a corrugated iron roof and in reasonable condition. It has been fitted 
with relatively modern iron water pipes, and is mentioned by valuers in 1912 and 1946 as a functioning tank. 
The cellar is in very bad condition; its walls are leaning, a very large olive tree has crushed the roof, and the 
wooden lintel above the doorway is in poor shape. 
The most substantial remaining evidence of the remount period at Glenthorne is the two brick artillery 
magazines on the ridge. They are solid buildings in very good condition, with their doors, ceilings, ventilators 
and drainage all intact. 
In the 1950s the magazines were converted to CSIRO store sheds. Their hipped iron roofs and verandahs were 
removed, and corrugated iron new gabled structures were built completely enclosing them. In the process, the 
rafters for the new roofs were laid on the posts and beams of the old verandahs, so the structural parts of the 
magazines are virtually intact. The outer buildings have helped to protect the magazines from the weather and 
human impacts for more than half their lives. (2002) Refer to the State Listing for further information. 
Location 
2 Majors Road, O'Halloran Hill, comprising the remains of Lizard Lodge complex, including the coachouse, 
smokehouse ruin and site of house and servants quarters, underground water tank, cellar, and two ammunition 
magazines and mound, as entered in the South Australian Heritage Register on 7 February 2002. 
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Attachment 2 
South Australian Heritage Places Act 1993 Part 7: 
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University of Adelaide, 2004, Heritage Listed Buildings Inventory, p. 79,81-
88, 90  �t Glenthorne. Report to the University of Adelaide by McDougall & 
Vines, 2004. 
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